
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk 

 
 
 

STRATEGIC HOUSING 
BOARD 

 
Councillor D J Mote (Chairman) 

Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE 
Councillor K J Grehan 

 
 

A meeting of the above Board will be held on 

 
Wednesday 16 October 2019 

 
at 2.00 pm in the Board Room, E Floor, Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent 

DA1 1DR  
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web: www.dartford.gov.uk 

 

 
Managing Director 

Tuesday 8 October 2018 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 

 



 

 
STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 

AGENDA 
 

Wednesday 16 October 2019 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms of any Grant(s) of Dispensation by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 
 

 

3. Confirmation of the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic 
Housing Board held on 10 July 2019 and Matters Arising  

(Pages 
1 - 6) 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board 
held on 10th July 2019 as an accurate record.  
 

 

4. Urgent Items   

5. References from Other Committees   

6. Strategic Housing Board Client Groups and Definitions  (Pages 
7 - 8) 

7. Affordable Home Ownership Options - Briefing Paper  (Pages 
9 - 12) 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board held on Wednesday 10 
July 2019. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor David J Mote (Chairman) 
Councillor Jeremy A Kite MBE (Vice-Chairman) present for items 
1-5 
Councillor Mrs Ann D Allen MBE 
Councillor Kelly Grehan 
 

 
 

 Dartford Borough Council Officers:- 
 

 Peter Dosad – Head of Housing 
 Marie Gerald – Housing Solutions and Private 

Sector Manager 
 Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 

Services) 
 Jackie Pye – Housing Policy Manager 
 Teresa Ryszkowska – Head of Regeneration 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
The Chairman welcomed Members to the inaugural meeting of the Board. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

4. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES  
 
There were no references from other committees. 
 

5. STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
The Leader of the Council explained the background to the creation of the 
Strategic Housing Board. During the previous term of office there had been a 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Housing who had been very active and effective. 
The Council’s Housing Service had evolved into a high quality, high 
performing and innovative service but there were wider housing issues that 
the Council needed to understand and address and this was why it had been 
decided to create the Strategic Housing Board to take this important  work 
forward  with drive and vision. The Board was tasked with looking at the 
national housing economy, gathering information on the market, 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 10 JULY 2019 
 
 

2 

demographics and needs of different groups of society and identifying 
opportunities and methods for meeting these needs. The Board should seek 
to be innovative and challenging and seek to lead the way in exploring new 
opportunities for the Council to impact on the national picture. The Board 
would need to gain an in depth insight of the housing market, local, regional 
and national demographics and the needs and expectations of the various 
groups in society and of those supplying the housing market, including 
developers and financial institutions.  Officers of the Council had great 
expertise in managing the Council’s housing service but it was likely that the 
Board would have to seek outside expert opinion on these wider matters, of 
which the Council had little direct knowledge, engaging with developers, 
banks, housing associations, RSL’s, residents and community groups etc.  
The Board would need to be bold and honest in approaching this work so that 
it could obtain an accurate understanding of the strategic housing economy, 
how the Council could intervene directly and how it could stimulate and inform 
the work of Government and partner organisations.    
 
In view of the importance and strategic nature of this work the Board would 
have sight of some information that would normally go directly to the Cabinet 
and the Leader asked Members to respect this and to deal with this 
information sensitively and appropriately. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Leader of the Council for providing further clarity 
on the role of the Board and looked forward to the challenges ahead. 
 
 RESOLVED:   
 
That the Terms of Reference for the Strategic Housing Board, which had been 
agreed at the Annual Council meeting on 22nd May 2019, be noted.   
 

6. DARTFORD'S HOUSING CONTEXT  
 
The Head of Regeneration presented a report which provided an overview of 
the local housing profile for Dartford in the context of national and regional 
housing trends. Housing supply, tenure, cost and affordability were 
considered along with the differing requirements of specific groups within the 
population. Information in the report was largely sourced from a study being 
undertaken by HDH Planning and Development entitled ‘Dartford and 
Ebbsfleet Housing Needs Assessment’ which had not yet been completed 
and the information therefore should be considered to be draft. She reminded 
Members that although the projections were based on past trends they were 
still only projections. From this it was clear that Dartford had a dynamic 
housing market with a lot of new housing, rising purchase and rental costs but 
that the trends were broadly in line with what was happening in neighbouring 
areas. There was high demand for new housing to buy or rent but Dartford 
had a very high ‘household formation rate’ of 1.8% compared to the national 
average (1.4%), possibly because the average age of families in Dartford was 
younger. There was a lot of growth being generated from within the Borough 
and not just because of people coming into Dartford from other areas. The 
study would be used to support the preparation of the new Local Plan which 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 10 JULY 2019 
 
 

3 

was expected to be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for examination in 
late 2020. The Board was invited to contribute to work on the preparation of 
the Plan by way of the work on housing that it intended to carry out and its’ 
comments and direction on policy matters would be passed on to the Local 
Plan Leaders Advisory Group for consideration. 
 
It was noted that there were a number of influences at work that could be 
driving trends locally such as the Ebbsfleet Garden City and Grammar School 
effect attracting younger families and the fact that Dartford railway station was 
the hub for 3 main train lines with direct access to London and Kent. There 
were also factors blocking the release of larger properties by those looking to 
downsize because the high cost of smaller properties in the borough provided 
a disincentive. 
 
The Head of Regeneration explained that the Council could look to influence 
the mix of housing types through the Local Plan and highlighted the significant 
gap that existed between market entry rents and market entry purchase 
prices.  This indicated that there could be potential demand for part-ownership 
products and other forms of assisted home purchase. There were a range of 
products available including Intermediate Rent/Rent-to-Buy, Shared 
Ownership, Shared Equity and Starter Homes/discount home ownership and 
these could be explored in greater detail at future meetings. The Chairman felt 
that it would be important to speak to providers of these products to identify 
their requirements when making these available to home-buyers, the levels of 
deposit they required, the level of repayments and their attitude towards risk 
in making investment decisions and whether the Council could do anything to 
influence their attitude towards lending risk. It was also noted that there were 
some products which now counted towards a person’s rent payment history 
when determining their credit rating. The Head of Regeneration suggested 
that it would be good to explore some of these products with providers.  
 
Whilst recognising that home ownership was an important aspiration it was 
also important to recognise the importance of the private rented sector and 
the multi-layered nature of housing demand. The report also highlighted the 
future requirements of diverse groups within the population and specifically 
older persons; people with disabilities; family households; essential local/key 
workers and younger people and recognised that within these categories 
there were many sub-sets and overlaps.  
 
The Chairman felt that it was important for the Board to identify the different 
categories of customer and different offerings and products. It was important 
to understand areas that could be influenced in the short term but also where 
actions could be taken to generate appropriate change in the future. The 
Board had to identify what it could do to influence the local housing economy, 
the ways that it could influence it and what leverage the Council could use to 
encourage future partners to help create home ownership opportunities for 
existing Dartford residents.  
 
The Head of Regeneration suggested that it might be possible to set 
parameters within the Local Plan to, for example, set aside some of the 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 10 JULY 2019 
 
 

4 

affordable housing element for key workers and that it could be worth 
engaging with developers and RSL’s to see whether this was something they 
might be willing to work toward. It could also be possible to require a 
percentage of new homes to be built to the full ‘lifetime homes’, or as it was 
now known ‘M4(2)’, specification making them more adaptable for those with 
disabilities or  
age-related issues.  
 
The Chairman welcomed the report which he said was comprehensive and 
informative, providing a good starting point for the Board’s work. 
    
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the content of the report on Dartford’s Housing Profile and Context be 
noted. 
   
 

7. DRAFT HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY  - JULY 2019  
 
The Head of Housing introduced a report which detailed the outcome of the 
latest review of the Housing Allocations’ Policy which had been originally 
adopted by the Council on 18th March 2013 as the Council’s framework for the 
allocation and management of the future allocation of properties. All housing 
authorities are required to have a Housing Allocations’ Policy setting out how 
social housing properties would be allocated to eligible applicants in housing 
need. The policy had subsequently been reviewed in 2014 and 2018. 
Because of legislative change and changes made in the light of practical 
experience the policy was kept under review and was a living, evolving 
document. In order to ensure a consistent approach the latest review of the 
policy had been undertaken and amendments made, where appropriate, to 
reflect operational changes (including working practices) following the 
implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, and the new policy 
met the requirements of current legislation. The report detailed the proposed 
changes to the Housing Allocations’ Policy and the general layout had also 
been revised to ensure ease of understanding, clarity and transparency. 
 
The Chairman welcomed the report and said that it was right for the policy to 
evolve and change where needed and to have sufficient flexibility to carry this 
though. The Housing service had proved itself to be responsive and 
innovative and the hub to counter homelessness that had been put in place 
was ground-breaking. It was noted that Dartford’s homelessness prevention 
rate of 78% was the highest across Kent. It was also recognised that Dartford 
had some additional pressures due to its proximity to London and the 
attraction of the area to London authorities seeking accommodation for their 
residents and the Council’s needs to balance this with its own responsibilities 
to Dartford residents. A Member asked whether Dartford had considered 
promoting the ‘Better Landlord Standard’ but was told that 90% of the 
landlords used by the Council were ‘regulars’ and whilst the Council 
encouraged high standards there was little real incentive for landlords to move 
to that standard due to the high level of demand for housing.     

Page 4Agenda Item 3



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 10 JULY 2019 
 
 

5 

 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the report be noted.    
 

8. DRAFT HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY 2019-2023  
 
The Head of Housing explained that the Government had introduced a 
requirement for local authorities to adopt a Rough Sleeper Strategy by 
December 2019 and Dartford intended to achieve this by integrating this into 
the existing Homelessness Strategy. The report detailed changes to the 
existing Homelessness Strategy 2018-2023 and the proposed Draft 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019-2023 which would be 
considered for approval by the Cabinet on 25 July 2019. The Housing Act 
1996 and the Homeless Reduction Act 2017 placed a duty on local housing 
authorities to provide advice and assistance to homeless people and people 
threatened with homelessness in their areas. In order to ensure that a 
strategic approach was taken towards the Council’s delivery of homelessness 
advice and assistance by the Housing Solutions Team, the Housing Service 
carries out a review of homelessness and produces a Homelessness Strategy 
every five years as required under the Homelessness Act 2002. The existing 
strategy had therefore been updated to comply with the new legislation and 
changes in operational measures to meet the statutory requirement to publish 
a strategy for tacking rough sleeping. Although rough sleeping in the Borough 
was comparatively low, there were estimated to be 12 people sleeping rough 
at the time of the last rough sleeper count in 2018, it was recognised that 
rough sleeping could have a distressing and detrimental impact on people and 
the Council’s aim was to reduce the levels of rough sleeping in the borough as 
far as possible. The aim of the Strategy was to ‘proactively prevent 
homelessness and rough sleeping though strong partnership working, and to 
provide an inclusive and accessible service to all’.  
 
The Strategy contained 4 strategic objectives to make this a reality: 
 
 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE ONE - PREVENTION & RELIEF 

To prevent and relieve homelessness and rough sleeping wherever 
possible in line with the requirements of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 (HRA 2017) and the Government’s National 
Rough Sleeping Strategy 2018;  

 

 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE TWO – ACCOMMODATION 
To provide a range of accommodation for homeless households, 
making innovative use of solutions in the private sector;  

 

 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE THREE -  PARTNERSHIP WORKING  
To work with local organisations to provide a coordinated approach 
to tackling and preventing homelessness; and   
  

 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE FOUR – MONITORING 

To keep up to date with homelessness trends, customer satisfaction, 
Government policy, legislation and good practice.  

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY 10 JULY 2019 
 
 

6 

 
The proposed Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019-2023 
detailed the list of achievements from actions referred to in the previous 
Strategy and set out new actions to be delivered up to 2021. Progress 
would continue to be monitored by the multi-agency Dartford Homeless 
Strategy and Rough Sleeper Implementation Group (HSIG) formed under 
the last Strategy with the continuing aim that partner organisations should 
come together to drive implementation of the new Strategy for 2019-2023. 
 
The Board recognised the uncertainties about future funding and noted 
that many of the actions required had already been carried out and work 
undertaken with partners to promote awareness of the tools available to 
prevent homelessness and the support available.    
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
That the contents of the report be noted.  
 

 
9. FUTURE WORK PLAN AND NEXT STEPS  

 
It was agreed that a Work Plan should be developed for review at each future 
Board meeting. The Strategic Director (External Services), the Head of 
Housing and the Head of Regeneration would agree a draft Work Plan with 
the Chairman for consideration at the next meeting in October and identify 
some specific items to report to that meeting. The Board would input to the 
Leaders’ Advisory Group on the Local Plan as appropriate. Items for future 
consideration might include financial and housing products available to home 
buyers, as well as innovative schemes that the Council could access. 
Suppliers of such products might be invited to future meetings.  
 
It was agreed that, unless a specific response or report was required, the 
work of the Strategic Housing Board would be reported to Cabinet by placing 
minutes of the Board’s meetings on the Cabinet agenda once they had been 
agreed by the Chairman. 
 
  

 
The meeting closed at 3.25 pm 

 
  

 
 

Councillor D Mote 
CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 6Agenda Item 3



Strategic Housing Board – Target Group Segmentation 

Ref  Target Group 

HA  Homeless Applicants 

VP  Vulnerable Persons 

SP  Single persons 

SPR  Single Parents  

F  Families 

FTB  First-time-buyers  

DP  Disabled Persons/Family 

DS  Downsizers 

QESP  Qualifying Ex Service Personnel 

GT  Gypsies and Travellers 

 

Age Breakdown 

Ref  Age Range 

A  18-35 

B  35-50 

C  50-70 

D  70+ 

 

Ref  Housing Tenures 

FTB  FTB House 2-3 beds 

FH  Family House 3+beds 

A  Apartments 1-3 beds 

CH  Council House 2-3 beds 

CA  Council Apartments 1-3 beds 

TH  Temp Housing 

RS  Rental Single Person 

RF  Rental Family 

MH  Mobile Home 

 

Page 7 Agenda Item 6



 

Page 8Agenda Item 6



STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 

 

Briefing paper 

Affordable Home Ownership Options 
 
Help to Buy 

The Government created a range of Help to Buy products to assist those who 

otherwise wouldn't be able to get a foot on or up the housing ladder. 

There are a number of Help to Buy products designed to make buying a home more 

affordable, including: 

Shared ownership 
How does it work? 

If outright purchase is not an option, this scheme offers an alternative to renting.  

Buyers can purchase an initial share in a new home which helps into home 

ownership in manageable stages. 

This scheme has previously been known as “Part Buy, Part Rent”, and both new-

build and re-sale (older) properties are available. 

The Housing Association or Registered Provider will offer initial shares of between 

25% - 75% of the full purchase price.  The buyer pays a subsidised rent on the 

remaining share that the Housing Association or Registered Provider still own. The 

combined monthly cost of mortgage and rent will normally be less than if a property 

is purchased outright. 

In the future buyers can sell a share for its value at the time or alternatively they can 

purchase further shares in the home. 

With most properties buyers are eventually able to own the property outright if they 

wish to, although there are some restrictions on rural schemes. 

Who is eligible? 

 The annual household income can be no more than £80,000. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 7



 Buyers should be unable to purchase a home suitable for their needs 

without assistance. 

 Buyers cannot be a current home owner (or be named on the deeds of 

another property). 

 Buyers must not have any outstanding credit issues (i.e. unsatisfied 

defaults or county court judgements). 

Help to Buy - Equity Loans 
How does it work? 

The Government lends between 10% and 20% of the cost of a new-build home, so 

that buyers only need a 5% cash deposit and 75% mortgage to make up the rest. 

Buyers are not be charged loan fees on the 20% loan for the first five years of 

owning the home. 

The loan is paid back either at the end of the mortgage term, or when the property is 

sold. 

Who is eligible? 

 The scheme is open to both first time buyers and existing home 

owners**. 

 There is no maximum household income. 

 You can purchase a property with a maximum value of £600,000. 

 You will need a minimum 5% deposit to qualify. 

 The maximum age is 75 years of age - as this impacts the mortgage. 

**Home owners can reserve a new build property as long as their existing property 
has sold before completing on the new property.  
 
New Help to Buy scheme announced 

The Government has announced a new Help to Buy scheme to run from April 2021. 
It is restricted to first-time buyers and includes regional property price caps to ensure 
the scheme reaches the people who need it most. There are no changes to the 
current Help to Buy equity loan scheme which runs to March 2021. 

The new scheme will run from April 2021 to March 2023. As with the current 

scheme, under the new scheme, the government will lend buyers up to 20% of the 

cost of a newly built home, and up to 40% in London. 

 

Page 10Agenda Item 7



What sections of the community are these products aimed at? 

These products are designed to be available to all sections of the community as long 

as they meet the eligibility criteria including for example, teachers, nurses, 

downsizers, first time buyers etc.  However, shared ownership is only available to 

first time buyers.  It is also debatable whether shared equity products are affordable 

to those on lower incomes. 

 

INNOVATIVE HOUSING MODELS 

Build to Rent /Private Rented Sector 

How does it work? 

Model of housing provision common in USA and some parts of Europe but so far 

limited in the UK outside of London.  It involves the building of new homes, usually 

on a large-scale, specifically for the rental market and typically owned by pension or 

insurance investment companies.    

The Build to Rent model allows property investors to achieve long-term investment 

returns, while providing renters with better quality accommodation and a better 

choice of locations.   The model is intended to incorporate effective property 

management, security for tenants and can provide shared community facilities, such 

as gyms, communal lounges and cinema rooms.  

What sections of the community are these products aimed at? 

The product is aimed at renters, where they cannot afford or unwilling to become 

home-owners.  It is most common in locations where the affordability of home 

purchase is most acute.  The model seeks to provide high quality accommodation 

and is not subsided, so provides housing for those in the gap between 

affordable/subsidised housing and home ownership.  One study in London found that 

these homes are on average 11% more expensive than rental properties nearby.  It 

is, therefore, most commonly taken up by affluent young households but where their 

incomes are insufficient to allow home purchase, due to the high purchase costs in 

the location.   

To date in the UK, the accommodation has been predominantly in the form of flats.  

However, it is possible to provide rented housing under this model, so it could also 

be suitable for families.  

Co-Living 

How does it work? 

Co-living is defined as a modern, urban type of accommodation with shared living 

spaces.  It is based on the idea of living as part of a community with shared and 

Page 11 Agenda Item 7



flexible communal spaces which can range from basic living spaces to premium 

services, such as co-working areas, restaurants and bookable events spaces. 

What sections of the community are these products aimed at? 

Shared space/facilities can make the accommodation more affordable than standard 

rented products.  Whilst it is considered to be popular with young household who are 

attracted to the ‘communal’ aspects of the housing, it is equally suited to a range of 

household, in particular, the elderly who may suffer from loneliness. 

 

Community Land Trusts 

How does it work? 

Community Land Trusts (CLTs) are a form of community-led housing. The CLT 

acquires land through purchase (by the community) or a gift, and oversees the 

development of affordable housing to buy or rent. The housing remains affordable in 

perpetuity – the CLT is a not-for-profit group and acts as a long-term steward of the 

homes built. 

What sections of the community are these products aimed at? 

Usually aimed at addressing need for affordable housing in the locality/ 

neighbourhood, so responding to identified affordable housing needs.  This may be 

in the form of affordable home ownership or for affordable rental but critically would 

need to be related to local incomes, house prices and the affordability gap.  Since 

this model is community driven and responding to local needs, it can be geared 

towards whichever section of the community has been identified as in need of the 

housing, whether that be elderly people, young families, or essential local workers.  

 

Page 12Agenda Item 7


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the meeting of the Strategic Housing Board held on 10 July 2019 and Matters Arising
	6 Strategic Housing Board Client Groups and Definitions
	7 Affordable Home Ownership Options - Briefing Paper

